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I. 1848-1945 THE BEGINNING: THE ONE SCHOOL SCHOOL DISTRICT

Kipilng School’s roots reach back 140 vears to Deerfield’s
early years and the vililage’s first schooi. In 1848, on hls farm
near County Llne Road, Jacob Cadwell buiit a school whlch for
years was known as *Cadwel! School". The flrst teacher in thls
school was Cadwe!!l’s daughter, Rosellia.

When School Dlstrlect 109 was organlzed in 1860, a one-room
wooden school was bullit at the southwest corner of Deerfleld and
Waukegan Roads. The schoolyear was three months in the winter
and the unmarcled men In the area who had nothing to do when the
harveat was over ajso attended. The teacher was pald 33 per
week. In 1869 the school bullding was sold to Phillp Hole, who
moved 1t across the road and added it to his house. Thls first
Distrlict 109 schooihouse was replaced by another one-coom gchool
bulit on the same corner, and a second flicor was added in 1879,
The bullding was moved In 1903 to the present site of the
digtrlct Administration Bullding on Deerfleid Road. In 1910 two
more rooms were added, and the four-room school was used untli
May, 1913, when the entlre buliding burned to the ground.

A new school, the Deerfleid Grammar School was bullt on the
gite. Ready for use In May, 1914 the bulliding consisted of slx
classrooms and an assembly hali. A distingulshlng feature of
this "ultra-modern® bullding was 1ts indoor plumblng, which
repiaced the "slx-holer" outhouse of the prevlous school
bullding. In 1926 four more classrooms were added and
Deerfleid’s flrst publlc llbrary was establlshed In the school.,
The school continued to grow and In 1928 a gymnaslum and flve
more classrooms were added. In those flrst sixty-elght years,
District 109 grew from a one-room schoolhouse to a two story,
fifteen classroom brlick schooi bullding. Deerfleld Grammar
Schoo! continued to be used as a school for another forty years
without major physical changes.

In June 1943, iIn the mldst of Worlid War II, Superintendent
Ball resigned to become superintendent of a much larger school
district (four bulidings) in Highland Park. The teachers declded
they would "much prefer to temporar!ly manage the running of the
schoo! themselves than have a new superlntendent In an emergency
who might change the methods which the staff had worked out with
satisfactory results." For two years the district operated
without a superintendent. A temporary position of princlpal was
created and Mlss Hazel Mliler, the elghth grade teacher, was pald
an addltlional 3200 for her dual position of teacher-prlincipal.
During this period teacher salarlies ranged from 91,100 - 1,400
per year and Deerfleid Grammar School’s custodlan, Dewey Deal was
paid %140 per month. The teachingstaff included nlne full time
teachers (one of whom taught half-day music/half-day
kindergarten) and one full time physlcal educatlon teacher.



IT. 1945-1968 YEARS OF EXPANSION

In May, 1945 the school board began interviewing for a
superintendent since there seemed to be "some agsurance now that
a man gelected at this time wouid not be called into miiltary
gervice.” Willlam Sheehan was hired as superintendent and the
expansion of District 109 began.

During November, 1944 the school board had discussed the
deslrabliity of the school ownlng addltional ground adjoining the
facitities, Now under Superintendent Sheehan’s direction, the
district began negotliating the purchase of thirteen iots In the
newly plotted Goldman’s North Shore Golifllinks Subdivision,
directly to the south of Deerfleld Grammar School. Flive of the
lots were purchased on October 7, 1946 for a sum of $16,040.09.
The remaining elght lots were purchased on May S, 1947 for a
price of 311,000. The sectlion of Whittier Avenue running west
from Kipling Place through the newly acgqulred property was
condemned and vacated. In response to the housing shortage
foliowing Worid War II, two prefabricated stee! houses (20 x 24’
and 20 x 32’), to be used as living quarters for teachers and
custodian Dewey Deal, were erected on the newly acquired propecty
(directly west of the bike racks presently located In front of

Klpilng School). The two houses remalned in pliace unt{i April
1960.

The proposed use of the newiy purchased property was as a
playground for the Deerfield Grammar School. Tennls courts were
developed on the eastern edge of the property (where the Kiplling
gym stands now) and basebali dlamonds were marked out on the west
half., The District 109 Parent Teacher Assocliat!on ralised $500 at
its 1947 "Fashion and Fun Party", which it donated for the
purchase of playground equipment for the primary grades. The
large oak trees In the play area were protected by flagstone
walls. The piayground site was completed with the [nstailation
of a split rall fence along Deerfleid Road and Kipling Place. A
rali splitting party, organized by schoo! board member, Mrs.
Margaret T!bbetts, was held on March 20, 1948.

The effects of suburban development and the baby boom began
to be felt by the Deerfield School District In 1947, 1In
February, 1948 Superintendent Sheehan pointed out "the need for a
larger schoo! is imminient with an average of two new pupils per
week still holding.” Folilowing a successful referendum on May
22, 1948, the district went ahead with plans drawn up by the
architect firm of Perkins and Will to bulld a new eight ciassroom
schoo! on the southeast corner of the Deerfleid Grammar School
" property for the sum of $275,000. Excavation for the new school
began with a ground breaking cecemony on Frlday, Octocber 15,
1948. The new school opened In the fall with an enroliment of



226 students ln grades K-4. Although dedicated as the Deerfleld
Primary School! on September 10, 1949, the school was referred to
as the "New Buliding* for years. The architect f!rm of Perklns
and W!ii was lauded for !ts innovatlve des!gn. The Amerlcan
Schoo! Board Journal, In a 1950 issue, devoted four pages to
Deerfleid’s new school. The article summarlzed that "although
Deerfieid’s primary school s oniy one year old, many of lts
bas!c features are appear!ng on draftling boards across the
country, reinforcing lts clalm to becoming a prototype for
schoois to come.”

The attendance area of the two gchoois, sitting side by
slde, was the entire district. Population concentratlons were
such that only students ilving in West Highland Park recelved bus
gervice to and from school. This bus transportation was provided
vlia a Highland Park Blgh School bus.

Rapld growth contlnued to plague the Deerfleid School
Dlstrict. In January 1952, sixteen months after opening the "New
Buiiding", Superintendent Sheehan predicted that “we have
facliltles for hand!ing our children for Just one more year.
Uniess we go into a bullding program lmmedlateiy, we wlil be
faced with the problem of having to run the schoois in two
shlfts.* The district responded by beginning the constructlon of
Maplewood School which was modeied after the "New Buiiding®
(Kipilng). In June, 1953 prlor to the openlng of Maplewood,
Deerfield Primary School was offlcially renamed Xlpling School
after the name chosen “aimost unanimousiy" ln an electlion heid
among the primary chlldren. Faced w!th the management of three
schoolg, the school board approved the hirlng of Frank Whltcher
ag the flrst non-teaching princlpal of Kipilng and Deerfield
Grammar School.

The opening of Maplewood Schoo! In September 1953 dld not
relleve the overcrowding at Kipling for long. Condltions were
such that by September ‘55, District 109 enrollment had ballooned
to 761 students. Compare that to the 349 students ln September
‘49 (the year Kipllng opened) and 646 in September ‘54. The
Kipling kitchen served as an auxililary classroom and one of the
Klpiing fourth grade classes moved Into the visual alds room at
Deerfleld Grammar School durlng the ‘55-56 schoolyear. In
February ‘56 work began on an addlition of gix classrooms to
Kipiing and four classrooms to Mapiewood. The Kipiling additlon,
whlch was flnlshed Qctober 12, 1956 provided a new west wing and
an offlce In the orlglinal entryway. The three schoolis were
restructured. Grades K-5 now attended elther Klpilng or
Maplewood with Grades 6-8 at Deerfleld Grammar School.

Growth wlthln the dlstrict cont!lnued over the next ten
years. Walden School! opened in September 1958 and Shepard Junior
High in September 196%. Kipling, Mapliewood and Walden remalined
K-5, the sixth grades remalned at Deerfleid Grammar School, and
grages 7 and B8 moved to Shepard. To allieviate the contlnual
probiem of overcrowding throughout the 60’3, schoo! boundarles



were shifted. Hlighland Park kindergarteners were transferred to
Walden. Shepard Elementary School (K-4) temporar!iy opened in
one wing of the Junlor Hligh.

The perlod 1957-1967 was also a period of administrative
change. Robert Agan was hlired as princlpal at Kipling in 1957
and was replaced by Frank Ventura in 1960. Superintendent
Sheehan resigned at the end of the ‘65-66 schoolyear and Dr.
Wiliiam Fenelon accepted the position beglinning with the
'66-67 schoolyear. Mr. Kenneth Nilsen, teacher at Deerfleid
Grammar School since 1964, was named Assistant Princlpal for
Kipling and Deerfleld Grammar Schools In March ‘67 and then
Acting Principal at Deerfield Grammar School for the ’‘67-68 term.

Kipling School experlenced a final! metamorphlsis with the
complietion of a second addition in September 1967. The
construction of four classrooms at the far west end, a library,
additional offlce space, and a gym enlarged the school to its
present size and conflguration. In less than twenty years the
schoo! had grown from elght classcooms pius a playroom and
kitchen to elghteen classrooms, gym, !lbrary, and offlces for
gspecial services and administration. Student population had
grown from 226 toc 460 students.

At the end of the ‘67-68 schoolyear, Mr. Niisen was
appolnted principal of Kipling School and the Deerfleid Grammar
Schoo! cliosed. That hlstoric bullding was used two more years
for administratlive offices before belng razed In July 1970 to
make room for a new administration bullding. In the yvears to
come, one more major physical change was made at Kipling School.
A door was placed between the iibrary bullt in 1967 and an
adjacent classroom, thereby expanding the llbrary for more
individualized Instructlon. Today thls area houses Kipling's
computers and plcture book section. The new learning center was
opened In September 1972 and dedicated to Dewey Deal, a District
109 employee for 37 years, flrst as custodlan at Deerfleld
Grammar School and later at Kipling.

As Kiplling’s last addition was cmpleted in 1967,
construction of Briarwood and Cadwel! Schools began with both
schools opening September 1968. The district had grown from one,
one-room wocden schoolhouse in 1869 to slx schoolis in 1968. As
Brlarwood opened, parents In Klngs Cove and Colony Polnt
protested the transfer of thelr chlldren from Kipiing to
Briarwood. They clted the lack of a roadway or paved path
between Colony Point/Kings Cove and the schoo! and the potentlal
for overcrowding at Brlarwood after the residentlal area around
that school was fully developed. The viilage’s unwllilingness to
open Carlisle from Deerfleid Road to Lake Cook Road made it
necessary for the district to bus students from Colony Point to
Briarwood School.



IIT. 1969-1989 REORGANIZATION: THE EFFECTS OF DECLINING
ENROLLMENT AND CONSOLIDATION

Fears of overcrowd!ng at Brlarwood were never substantiated
In that schoo!’s short, nlne year hlstory. Briarwood opened in
1968 with a populatlon of 245. The transfer of H!ghland Park,
Kings Cove, and Colony Point students from Klpling to Brlarwood
helped to alleviate overcrowdlng at Klpllng and boost enroiliment
at Brlarwood. However, in splte of these transfers, the expected
Brlarwood School enroliment for fall ‘77 was only 108 students,
Wwith just fourteen kindergarteners and ten first graders. At the
end of the ’76-77 schoolyear, Briarwood was closed and Hlghland
Park, Colony Polint, and Kings Cove chllidren were once agaln
assiagned to Klpling. Brlarwood Vista chllidren were transfecred
to Cadwell School.

Deci!ining enroliment, spicallng costs, difficulty In galning
passage of a referendum to increase funds, and the potentlal
combined effects of all of these factors on the quality of
educatlon caused the merger of Deerfleid-Hloghiand Park District
109 and Rlverwoods District 110 In 1978. Dlstrict 109‘s Dr.
Fenelon retired and District 110‘s superintendent, Dr. Charles
Caruso, became the superintendent of the expanded Distrlct 109.
The new District 109 lacluded Kilpilng, Mapiewood, Walden,
Cadwell, Wiimot Elementary, South Park, Woodland, Shepard Jr.
High, and Wlimot Jr. Hlgh Schools.

As enroliment contlnued to decllne, the Distrlict antlicipated
the necesslty of cliosing two schools. Klpling was one of the
three schools under consideration. After reviewlng factors
Includlng focation, number of avallable classrooms, and size of
Ilbrary and gym, the district cliosed Cadwell and Maplewcod
Schools In 1981, Students iiving In the north Cadwell and
Brlarwood Vista areas were transferred to Klp!lng School,

Over the next four years the dec!lining student populatlicn
previousiy geen in the lower grades began to be felt at the
Junlor high school level. The district considered several
optlons inciuding closing one junlor high oc restructurlng the
distrlict as primary (X-2) schools, mlddie ¢(3-5) schools, and
upper grade (6-8) schoois. In 1985 the distrlct reorganized the
achools making the elementary schoois kindergarten through flfth
grade and the junlor hlgh schoois sixth through elghth grade.
Woodland School was closed. The district predicted that school
enrol iment would stabillze and there would be no need, In the
near future, to close another school,



IV. THE MORE THINGS CHANGE THE MORE THEY STAY THE SAME

Kipilng, once the "New Bullding" and now the oldest of the
original District 109 schools, has seen a lot of changes in Its
forty yvears. The bullding has been enlarged twlce and Its
attendance area boundaries have changed as other schocis were
built and then closed. Klpllng has gone from a K-4 school to a
K-S schoo! to a K-6 school and back to K-5. Mr. Nlisen is the
schooi‘s fourth principal, but he has heid that posltlion for more
than half of Klplling’s history. Mrs. Lorretto Nero, who flirst
taught at Kipiing School in 1952, and again from 1967 to the
present, was the flrst of the current staff to teach at Kipling,
Miass Geraldine Herr has been a thlrd grade teacher at Kipilng for
thirtytwo consecutive years. More than one-third of the entire
present staff were assigned to Kipling prior to 1980. Ten of the
tweive classroom teachers were already teaching at Kipling in
1978, the year the ’88-89 fifth grade class was born.

Some present day activitlies enjoyed by current students have
been around for quite a while. Fleld Day wag first organlzed May
28, 1953, by phyalcal education teachers Jane Voisard and Dick
Reed, as an afternoon of races and athletlc contests for the
Deecfield Grammar Schoo! and Kipling students. The Outdoor
Educatlon program, enjoyed by Kipllng’s fifth grade students, was
adopted In 1960.

Fund raising has long been a goal of the school’s
parent~teacher organizations. Fund ralsers have Included the
1947 "Fashlon and Fun Party"; the "Toy Sales", "Sports Nights®,
and "Mother-Daughter Fashlon Shows" of the slxtles; the "Kipling
Karnlval® held in May, November, or February 1970-75; and
*Pumpkin Festlival®, which originated October 23, 1976. The
expected Income from those early Pumpkin Festlivals was about
$500. Compare that to the $7,600 earned at the 1988-89 Pumpklin
Fegtlval and Silent Auctlon!

The “88-89 Kipling staff adopted "Furty Years of Caring and
Sharing" as a motto. This aptly describes the spirit of Kipling.
The 1952 PTA sponsored rennovation of toys to be donated to a
Chlicago orphanage; the collectlion of canned goods for the needy
In West Deerfield Township, which began !n 1978; and the donatlion
of clothing and toys to A Safe Place in 1988 are all examples
that Klpling cares.



V. THE FINAL CHAPTER 1S YET TO BE WRITTEN

Use these blank pages to express (wrlte or draw) your
thoughts about Kipllng’s past, present, and future. These pages
will be flled away for Klpllng School’s 80th birthday ln 2029!






